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CHAMBERS, J.

In a case of first impression, the central issue stated broadly is whether the contents
of a resolution passed by a political subdivision pursuant to the New York Voting Rights Act (see
Election Law § 17-206[7][b]), in which the political subdivision purported to affirm its intent to

enact and implement a remedy to a potential voting rights violation, were sufficient to trigger the 90-
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day safe harbor provision of that statute. For the reasons set forth below, we affirm the Supreme
Court’s determination that the resolution failed to satisfy the statutory criteria to trigger the 90-day
safe harbor provision, and, accordingly, the court properly denied the defendants’ motion to dismiss
the complaint.
I. Overview of the New York Voting Rights Act

The John R. Lewis Voting Rights Act of New York (hereinafter the NYVRA) was
enacted in 2022 and went into effect on July 1, 2023 (see L 2022, ch 226). The NYVRA declares

that it is the public policy of New York to “[e]ncourage participation in the elective franchise by all
eligible voters to the maximum extent” and “[e]nsure that eligible voters who are members of racial,
color, and language-minority groups shall have an equal opportunity to participate in the political
processes of the state of New York, and especially to exercise the elective franchise” (Election Law
§ 17-200[1], [2]). It provides that “all statutes, rules and regulations, and local laws or ordinances
related to the elective franchise shall be construed liberally in favor of (a) protecting the right of
voters to have their ballot cast and counted; (b) ensuring that eligible voters are not impaired in
registering to vote, and (c) ensuring voters of race, color, and language-minority groups have
equitable access to fully participate in the electoral process in registering to vote and voting” (id. §
17-202).

The NYVRA prohibits any “political subdivision” in New York, which includes
towns in New York, from “us[ing] any method of election, having the effect of impairing the ability
of members of a protected class to elect candidates of their choice or influence the outcome of
elections, as a result of vote dilution” (id. § 17-206[2][a]). The statute provides that a violation of
this provision of the NY VR A may be established, inter alia, by a showing that a political subdivision
uses “an at-large method of election,” and “either . . . (A) voting patterns of members of the
protected class within the political subdivision are racially polarized; or (B) under the totality of the
circumstances, the ability of members of the protected class to elect candidates of their choice or
influence the outcome of elections is impaired” (id. § 17-206[2][b][1][A]-[B]).

An aggrieved person may file an action in the Supreme Court against a political
subdivision alleging a violation of this provision of the NYVRA (see id. § 17-206[4]). Upon finding
a violation, the court shall implement appropriate remedies, which may include, but are not limited
to, the specific remedies listed in the NYVRA (see id. § 17-206[5]). The proposed remedies listed
in the NYVRA include implementing a “district-based method of election” (id. § 17-206[5][a][1]),

January 30, 2025 Page 2.
CLARKE v TOWN OF NEWBURGH



implementing an “alternative method of election” (id. § 17-206[5][a][ii]), such as “ranked-choice
voting, cumulative voting, [or] limited voting” (id. § 17-204[3]), eliminating “staggered elections
so that all members of a governing body are elected on the same date” (id. § 17-206[5][a][iv]), or
“reasonably increasing the size of the governing body” (id. § 17-206[5][a][V]).

Before commencing a judicial action against a political subdivision pursuant to the
NYVRA, a prospective plaintiff must send the political subdivision a letter “asserting that the
political subdivision may be in violation of this title” (id. § 17-206[7]). Such a letter is referred to
in the statute as a “NY VRA notification letter” (id.) The NYVRA notification letter must “specify
the potential violation or violations alleged and shall contain a statement of facts to support such
allegation” (id.). A prospective plaintiff must not commence a judicial action against the political
subdivision within 50 days of sending the NY VRA notification letter (see id. § 17-206[7][a]).

Before receiving such a letter, or within the 50-day period after the mailing of such
a letter, the political subdivision may pass a resolution affirming the following: “(i) the political
subdivision’s intention to enact and implement a remedy for a potential violation of [the NYVRA];
(i1) specific steps the political subdivision will undertake to facilitate approval and implementation
of such a remedy; and (iii) a schedule for enacting and implementing such a remedy” (id. §
17-206[7][b]). If the political subdivision passes such a resolution, referred to in the statute as a
“NYVRA resolution,” then the political subdivision shall have a safe harbor period of 90 days after
passage “to enact and implement such remedy,” during which a prospective plaintiff may not
commence an enforcement action against the political subdivision (id.). When the governing body
of the political subdivision either “lacks the authority” or “fails to enact or implement a remedy
identified in a NY VRA resolution” within 90 days after passage of the NY VR A resolution, it must
follow specific procedures to submit a “NY VRA proposal” to the Civil Rights Bureau of the Office
of the New York State Attorney General for its approval (id. § 17-206[7][c][1]).

A political subdivision that has passed a NYVRA resolution may enter into an
agreement with a prospective plaintiff to extend the safe harbor period for an additional 90 days (see
id. § 17-206[7][d]). Such an agreement must include a requirement that the political subdivision
shall either enact and implement a remedy or submit a NY VRA proposal to the Civil Rights Bureau
of the Office of the New York State Attorney General (see id.).

Against the backdrop of this statutory scheme, we turn to the case before us.

II. Facts Relevant to the Instant Appeal

January 30, 2025 Page 3.
CLARKE v TOWN OF NEWBURGH



The Town of Newburgh is a political subdivision in Orange County, with a
population of approximately 32,000. The Town Board of the Town of Newburgh (hereinafter the
Town Board) is the Town’s legislative and policymaking authority, comprised of five individuals—a
Town Supervisor and four other members of the Town Board—all of whom are chosen through at-
large elections. The Town Supervisor serves a two-year term and the four other members serve
staggered four-year terms, such that every two years two seats on the Town Board are on the ballot.

On January 26, 2024, a law firm representing the plaintiffs sent the Towna NYVRA
notification letter, alleging that the Town’s use of an at-large method for electing the members of
the Town Board violated the NYVRA by diluting the votes of Hispanic and African-American
voters. The letter asserted, inter alia, that the Town had never “elected an African American or
Hispanic candidate to Town office, despite the fact that African Americans and Hispanics represent
14.6% and 23.6% of the Town’s population respectively.” The letter threatened legal action if the
Town did not voluntarily cure its violation of the NY VR A and expressed a willingness to “work with
the Town to bring it into compliance” with the NYVRA.

On March 15,2024, the Town Board held a special meeting and adopted a resolution
(hereinafter the March 2024 resolution). The March 2024 resolution directed the Town Supervisor
and the attorney for the Town to work with lawyers to “determine whether any potential violation
of the NYVRA may exist and to evaluate potential alternatives to bring the election system into
compliance with the NYVRA should a potential violation be determined to exist” and to report such
findings and evaluation to the Town Board within 30 days. The March 2024 resolution noted that
the Town would be “availing itself of the ‘Safe Harbor Provision’ under the NYVRA.” The March
2024 resolution further stated that “[1]f, after considering the findings and evaluation and any other
information that may become available to the Town . . . the Town Board concludes that there may
be a violation of the NYVRA, the Town Board affirms that the Town intends to enact and implement
the appropriate remedy(ies).” The March 2024 resolution further provided that, in the event the
Town Board finds that “there may be a violation of the NYVRA,” the Town Board would cause a
proposal of the selected remedy or remedies to be prepared and submitted to the Town Board within
10 days “of the Town Board’s finding of the potential violation,” would hold at least two public
hearings within 30 days of the presentation of the proposal, and thereafter would complete and
submit the proposal to the Civil Rights Bureau of the Office of the New York State Attorney

General.
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On March 26, 2024, the plaintiffs commenced this action against the Town and the
Town Board alleging vote dilution in violation of Election Law § 17-206(7). The complaint alleged
that the March 2024 resolution did not comply with the criteria for a NYVRA resolution pursuant
to Election Law § 17-206(7) and therefore was insufficient to trigger the 90-day period set forth in
that subdivision of the NYVRA during which a plaintiff is barred from commencing an action.

On April 8,2024, the Town Board adopted a new resolution in response to this action,
suspending the Town Board’s schedule for implementing any remedy pending a determination from
the Supreme Court as to whether the March 2024 resolution complied with the NYVRA.

On April 16, 2024, in lieu of an answer, the defendants moved pursuant to CPLR
3211(a)(1) and (7) to dismiss the complaint, contending that the March 2024 resolution complied
with Election Law § 17-206(7) and that the action was brought prematurely before the 90-day safe
harbor period had lapsed. In an order dated May 17, 2024, the Supreme Court denied the motion.
The defendants appeal.

[I. Analysis

In determining whether the Town Board’s March 2024 resolution satisfies the criteria
of an NYVRA resolution such that it triggers the 90-day safe harbor, our analysis begins as always
with the statutory text, as this is the “clearest indicator of legislative intent” (Majewski v
Broadalbin-Perth Cent. School Dist., 91 NY2d 577, 583). “It is fundamental that a court, in
interpreting a statute, should attempt to effectuate the intent of the Legislature” (id., quoting
Patrolmen’s Benevolent Assn. of City of N.Y. v City of New York, 41 NY2d 205, 208).

We examine each of the statute’s three requirements for an NY VRA resolution: first,
that the resolution affirm “the political subdivision’s intention to enact and implement a remedy for
a potential violation of [the NYVRA]J;” second, that it set forth “specific steps the political
subdivision will undertake to facilitate approval and implementation of such a remedy;” and third,
that it set forth “a schedule for enacting and implementing such a remedy” (Election Law §
17-206[7][b]).

A. “Intention to enact and implement a remedy”

As the Supreme Court properly determined, the Town’s resolution failed to satisfy
the first of the three criteria for a NYVRA resolution, which required the Town to “affirm[ ]” its
“intention to enact and implement a remedy for a potential violation” of the NYVRA (id. §

17-206[7][b]). The plain language of the statute requires an expression of an unconditional intention
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to enact and implement a remedy, not a conditional one (see id.). Certainly, had the Legislature
wanted to explicitly carve out room for political subdivisions to make their intention conditional, it
could have done so (see Commonwealth of the N. Mariana Is. v Canadian Imperial Bank of
Commerce, 21 NY3d 55, 62).

Our reading of the statutory language is further buttressed by the explicit directive that
the NY VRA must be “construed liberally in favor of . . . ensuring voters of race, color, and language-
minority groups have equitable access to fully participate in the electoral process” (id. § 17-202).
Moreover, a mere equivocal commitment to implementing a remedy is inconsistent with the
NYVRA’s stated purpose of ensuring that voters who are members of minority groups “shall have
an equal opportunity to participate in the political processes” (id. § 17-200[2]).

Here, the Town affirmed only a conditional intent to enact and implement a remedy,
“[i]f, after considering the findings and evaluation and any other information that may become
available to the Town . . . the Town Board concludes that there may be a violation of the NYVRA.”
The conditional nature of the March 2024 resolution failed to trigger the 90-day safe harbor period.

The defendants urge that this interpretation of the NY VR A overlooks the significance
of the word “potential” in the statute’s provision requiring that an NYVRA resolution “affirm|[ |”
a political subdivision’s “intention to enact and implement a remedy for a potential violation” of the
NYVRA (id. § 17-206[7][b]). In addressing this contention, we agree with the Attorney General’s
assertion that the use of the phrase “potential violation” (see id.§ 17-206[7]) means that no court has
determined that an actual NYVRA violation has occurred. The defendants argue further that the
Legislature would have used the phrase “alleged violation” to convey this intended meaning. We
disagree and conclude that, when analyzed within the context of the legislation itself, the wording
“potential violation” refers to the possibility or risk that a violation has occurred, whether or not any
formal allegation has been made. We note further that the defendants’ focus on the absence of the
word “alleged” ignores the fact that an NY VRA resolution may be passed sua sponte by a political
subdivision to address a potential violation, even before any allegation of a violation is made (see
id.). Consequently, the Legislature’s apparent intent was for political subdivisions to take proactive
measures to ensure that their election procedures are fair and to prevent vote dilution.

Indeed, the defendants’ main argument would rewrite the text of the statute. The
defendants contend that the NY VRA only requires the Town Board to affirm an intent to implement

a remedy “if the necessary conditions exist,” that is, “if the Town Board determines that the
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prospective plaintiff has set forth a NYVRA violation.” The defendants’ interpretation, in effect,
would move the word “potential” in the statute so that it modifies the word “intention” instead of
the word “violation.” In the defendants’ view, the Town need only express a possible intention, if
the right conditions are met, to enact and implement a remedy. There is no basis for this argument.

Notably, the defendants’ position is inconsistent not only with the statute itself, but
also with the wording of the March 2024 resolution that the defendants passed. The defendants
contend that the Town should be given “latitude to investigate potential claims before blindly
committing to remedying a problem that may not exist.” However, the March 2024 resolution
passed by the Town Board never requires the Town to determine definitively whether a violation
exists or not. The March 2024 resolution directs the Town Supervisor and attorneys to determine
only whether a violation “may” exist. The March 2024 resolution provides for next steps if the
“Town Board concludes that there may be a violation of the NYVRA” (emphasis added) or makes
a “finding” of a “potential violation” (emphasis added). In effect, at the end of the Town’s 30-day
investigation, if the Town unilaterally decides that there is a potential violation of the NYVRA, the
Town will be in the same place as it was when it started, tasked with formulating a remedy to the
“potential violation.”

Furthermore, the defendants’ position, that only a conditional commitment to act is
required, would so distort the statute as to make the safe harbor provision pointless. Under the
defendants’ interpretation of the safe harbor provision of the NYVRA, the plaintiffs would be
required to wait a full 90 days before commencing an action, even if the defendants decided within
the first 30 days to take no action to remedy the alleged NY VRA violation. The legislation provides
no basis for this interpretation.

The defendants further contend that the NYVRA is meant to allow a political
subdivision time to investigate a prospective plaintiff’s allegations before committing to a remedy.
However, the statute already provides such an opportunity for investigation by allowing a political
subdivision a full 50 days to respond to a prospective plaintiff’s NYVRA notification letter (see
Election Law § 17-206[7][a]). Moreover, the Governor’s Memorandum accompanying the bill
jacket for L 2022, ch 226, reflects that the effective date of the law was postponed for more than a
year to give the state and localities the opportunity to address challenges to the law’s implementation
(see Governor’s Approval Mem, Bill Jacket, L 2022, ch 226 at 6).

Nor is there any merit to the defendants’ contention that only the second, “additional”
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90-day safe harbor imposes any kind of unconditional obligation to act (see Election Law § 17-
206[7][d]). When viewed as a whole and in relation to one another, the three safe harbor periods set
forth in the NYVRA are clearly intended, first, to provide political subdivisions with 50 days to
investigate allegations of potential violations and to develop a plan to remedy them; second, to
provide 90 days to enact and implement a remedy; and, third, to provide an “additional” 90 days,
upon agreement and as needed, when more time is necessary to complete the enactment and
implementation of the remedy (see id. §17-206[7][a]-[d]).

B. “[S]pecific steps” to “facilitate approval and implementation” of a remedy and
a “schedule for enacting and implementing such a remedy”

The Supreme Court also properly determined that the March 2024 resolution failed
to satisfy the second and third criteria for a valid NYVRA resolution, as it failed to identify any
specific remedy that the Town Board intended to implement and therefore failed to set forth either
“specific steps” or a “schedule” for implementing any such remedy (Election Law § 17-206[b][ii],
[1i1]). While the March 2024 resolution purports to set forth a schedule for implementation of a
remedy, the schedule is both conditional and contentless. The schedule is conditional because the
March 2024 resolution provides that most of the steps need not be followed at all if the Town Board,
in its own judgment, determines that no NY VRA violation has occurred. The schedule is contentless
because the Town Board has provided deadlines without any specificity as to what is to be
accomplished by those deadlines. For example, the March 2024 resolution sets a deadline for a
written proposal to implement a remedy that has not been chosen, and it sets deadlines for public
hearings on issues that have not been identified.

The plain language of the statute supports the Supreme Court’s determination that a
NYVRA resolution must specify the remedy or remedies to be enacted and implemented. This is
made clear by paragraph (c) of subdivision 17-206(7), which specifies the procedures for when a
political subdivision’s governing body either “lacks the authority” to enact or implement or “fails”
to enact or implement ““a remedy identified in a NY VRA resolution” within 90 days after passage
of the NY VRA resolution (see Election Law § 17-206[7][c]). The only reasonable interpretation of
this language is that a NYVRA resolution is expected to identify a particular remedy. Here, the
March 2024 resolution fails to identify any remedy and, therefore, fails to set forth any meaningful
steps or a schedule for enacting or implementing any such remedy.

The legislative history of the statute also supports the conclusion thata valid NYVRA
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resolution must express an unequivocal intent to implement a specific remedy. The purpose of the
NYVRA'’s safe harbor provision, as articulated by the legislator sponsoring the bill, is to enable
political jurisdictions to “make necessary amendments to proposed election changes without needing
to litigate in court” (Senate Introducer’s Mem in Support, Bill Jacket, L 2022, ch 226 at 8). Such
apurpose would not be advanced if a political subdivision were permitted to only express an abstract
intent to implement a hypothetical, unidentified remedy.

This interpretation of the safe harbor provision is also consistent with the statutes of
other states, upon which the NYVRA was modeled. The Senate Introducer’s Memorandum in
Support for the NYVRA reflects that New York’s law was intended to “build[ ] upon the
demonstrated track record of success” of California’s and Washington’s recent voting rights statutes
(id. at9). The California Voting Rights Act “prohibits an at-large method of election ‘that impairs
the ability of a protected class’ . . . ‘to elect candidates of its choice or its ability to influence the
outcome of an election, as a result of the dilution or the abridgment of the rights of voters who are
members of a protected class’” (Pico Neighborhood Assn. v City of Santa Monica, 15 Cal 5th 292,
306, 534 P3d 54, 59, quoting Cal Elec Code § 14027 [citations omitted]). The California statute
requires a prospective plaintiff to provide written notice to a political subdivision before
commencing an action (see Cal Elec Code § 10010), and if a political subdivision passes a resolution
within 45 days of such notice, “outlining its intention to transition from at-large to district-based
elections, specific steps it will undertake to facilitate this transition, and an estimated time frame for
doing so,” then the prospective plaintiff may not commence suit for 90 days from the date of passage
of such resolution (id. § 10010[e][3][A]; see § 10010[e][3][B]). Similarly, the Washington Voting
Rights Act provides that “no method of electing the governing body of a political subdivision may
be imposed or applied in a manner that impairs the ability of members of a protected class or classes
to have an equal opportunity to elect candidates of their choice as a result of the dilution or
abridgment of the rights of voters who are members of a protected class or classes” (RCW
29A.92.020; see Portugal v Franklin County, 1 Wash 3d 629, 634-635, 530 P3d 994, 1000).
Washington’s statute permits a political subdivision to voluntarily “change its electoral system . .
. to remedy a potential violation” (RCW 29A.92.040[1]) or to implement a remedy prompted by a
“plausible violation” alleged by a voter (id. § 29A.92.070[2]). In the latter case, if a court
“concludes that the political subdivision’s remedy complies with RCW 29A.92.020, an action under

this chapter may not be brought against that political subdivision for four years” (id. §
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29A.92.070[3]). Thus, both California’s and Washington’s statutes clearly intend for a political
subdivision to implement a specific and concrete remedy in response to a potential voting rights
violation in order to trigger a safe harbor from the commencement of litigation. This further
underscores that the New York Legislature, having expressly modeled New Y ork’s statute upon the
examples set by California and Washington, likewise intended for New York’s statute to require a
similar level of commitment to a specific remedy.

The defendants’ contention that requiring such specificity would be too burdensome
is unavailing. The potential remedies for vote dilution caused by at-large elections have been
identified and discussed in case law, statutes, and scholarly literature. “Federal courts ‘have strongly
preferred single-member districts’ as the remedy” for vote dilution (Portugal v Franklin County, 1
Wash 3d at 638, 530 P3d at 1001, quoting Growe v Emison, 507 US 25, 40). Other potential
remedies include alternative voting methods such as cumulative voting, whereby a “voter receives
as many votes as there are candidates to elect, but may cast multiple votes for a single candidate”
(Portugal, 1 Wash 3d at 640, 530 P3d at 1002), limited voting, whereby a “voter receives fewer
votes than there are candidates to elect” (id.), or ranked-choice voting, whereby a “voter ranks
candidates in order of preference, and votes are transferred to lower-ranked candidates who are not
elected on first-place votes if a majority is not reached” (id.; see Pico Neighborhood Assn. v City of
Santa Monica, 15 Cal 5th at 317 nn 6-8, 534 P3d 66 nn 6-8; see also Missouri State Conference of
the N.A. for the Advancement of Colored People v Ferguson-Florissant Sch. Dist., 219 F Supp 3d
949, 957 [ED Mo]). Another potential remedy is to eliminate staggered terms, which “can have a
dilutive effect on a population’s voter participation” (United States v Euclid City Sch. Bd., 632 F
Supp 2d 740, 757 [ND Ohio]; see Collins v City of Norfolk, Va., 883 F2d 1232, 1236 [4th Cir]). All
of the above remedies, and others, are expressly listed in the NYVRA (see Election Law §§ 17-
204[3]; 17-206[5]). Inlight of the foregoing, the defendants’ contention that it would be practically
impossible to identify a viable remedy in the time allotted by the NYVRA rings hollow.

IV. Conclusion

In short, the defendants’ interpretation of the NY VRA seems to prioritize prolonging
the process, potentially to strategize their position, over the underlying intent and purpose of the
statute. They interpret the NY VRA as requiring a political subdivision to do nothing more than pass
a resolution reciting some of the language from the statute after spending 50 days deciding whether

it is worthwhile to do so. Then, after passage of a contentless resolution that commits a political
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subdivision to do nothing unless it unilaterally decides that a NYVRA violation “may” exist, a
political subdivision enjoys a 90-day immunity from suit, regardless of whether it does anything
further and even when it has conclusively decided to take no further action. These positions are
irreconcilable with both the text and the purpose of the NYVRA. For all of the foregoing reasons,
the Supreme Court properly determined that the defendants failed to satisfy the safe harbor provision
of Election Law § 17-206(7) and properly denied the defendants’ motion to dismiss the complaint.

The parties’ remaining contentions either are without merit or need not be reached
in light of our determination.

Accordingly, the order is affirmed.
LASALLE, P.J., TAYLOR and GOLIA, JJ., concur.

ORDERED that the order is affirmed, with costs.

ENTER_:Dmt 1" /L__

Darrell M. Joseph
Clerk of the Court
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LASALLE, P.J.

L Introduction

In addition to setting out the powers of the branches of our government, the
constitutions of the United States and New York State contain provisions protecting the rights of
minorities from the “tyranny of the majority” (John Adams, A Defence of the Constitutions of
Government of the United States of America, Vol. 3,291 [1788]; see also James Madison, Federalist
No. 10), including provisions guaranteeing citizens equal protection of the laws (see US Const, 14th
Am, § 1; NY Const, art I, § 11). On this appeal we are asked to decide whether the vote dilution
provisions of the John R. Lewis Voting Rights Act of New York (L 2022, ch 226; hereinafter
NYVRA), intended to ensure that a numerical minority’s voice is not removed from local
government, facially violate the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United
States Constitution (hereinafter the Equal Protection Clause).! The defendants in this case, the Town
of Newburgh and the Town Board of the Town of Newburgh (hereinafter the Town Board), lack the

capacity to challenge the constitutionality of the NY VRA except to the extent that it forces them to

' The defendants contend that the NYVRA also violates the New York State Constitution, which the
Court of Appeals has stated “provides for equivalent equal protection safeguards” (People v Aviles,
28 NY3d 497, 502; see NY Const, art I, § 11). As the parties do not contend that equal protection
claims under the New York State Constitution should be analyzed differently than the equal
protection claims under the Fourteenth Amendment, the equal protection claim set forth by the
defendants will be analyzed with reference to the Fourteenth Amendment, bearing in mind that the
rationale would also be dispositive of the defendants’ equal protection claim under the New York
State Constitution.
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violate the Equal Protection Clause. Since, on this record, the defendants failed to show as a matter
of law that compliance with the NYVRA would force them to violate the Equal Protection Clause,
we reverse the order of the Supreme Court.

1L The Federal Voting Rights Act

Sixty years ago, Congress enacted the Voting Rights Act of 1965 (hereinafter the
FVRA), pursuant to its authority to enforce the Fifteenth Amendment to the United States
Constitution (see Allen v Milligan, 599 US 1, 41). Section 5 of the FVRA, which initially was set
to expire after five years, provided that no change in voting procedures in certain jurisdictions
defined by a “coverage formula” set out in section 4 of the FVRA could take effect until it was
approved by the United States Attorney General or a court of three judges (Shelby County v Holder,
570 US 529, 537-538). Although these sections of the FVRA were repeatedly reauthorized by
Congress, in 2013, the United States Supreme Court struck down section 4 because the coverage
formula was based on data that was more than 40 years old and no longer responsive to current needs
and thus an impermissible burden on the principles of federalism and the equal sovereignty among
the states (see id. at 535, 543-544, 550-557). Accordingly, section 5 has been rendered
unenforceable until Congress drafts a new coverage formula, which it has not done (see id. at 557).

However, section 2 of the FVRA, which applies throughout the United States and
concerns vote dilution, remains in effect (see id.). “In its original form, § 2 closely tracked the
language of the [Fifteenth] Amendment and, as a result, had little independent force. [The] leading
case on § 2 at the time was City of Mobile v Bolden [(446 US 55)], which involved a claim by black
voters that the City’s at-large election system effectively excluded them from participating in the
election of city commissioners. The commission had three seats, black voters comprised one-third
of the City’s population, but no black-preferred candidate had ever won election” (Allen v Milligan,
599 US at 10-11 [citations, footnote, and internal quotation marks omitted]). The Court in City of
Mobile ruled against the plaintiffs, concluding that the Fifteenth Amendment, and thus section 2,
did not “prohibit laws that [were] discriminatory only in effect” (id. at 11; see City of Mobile v
Bolden, 446 US at 61-65).

“Almost immediately after it was decided, Mobile produced an avalanche of criticism,
both in the media and within the civil rights community” (Allen v Milligan, 599 US at 11 [internal

quotation marks omitted]). “By focusing on discriminatory intent and ignoring disparate effect,
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critics argued, the Court had abrogated the standard used by the courts to determine whether [racial]
discrimination existed” (id. at 12 [internal quotation marks omitted]). On the other hand,
“mandating racial proportionality in elections was regarded by many as intolerable” (id.). In 1982,
the impasse was resolved “when Senator Bob Dole proposed a compromise. Section 2 would
include the effects test that many desired but also a robust disclaimer against proportionality” (id.
at 13 [citation omitted]).

As amended by Congress in 1982, section 2 provides that the section is violated “if,
based on the totality of the circumstances, it is shown that the political processes leading to
nomination or election in the State or political subdivision are not equally open to participation by
members of a [racial] class of citizens . . . in that its members have less opportunity than other
members of the electorate to participate in the political process and to elect representatives of their
choice. The extent to which members of a protected class have been elected to office in the State
or political subdivision is one circumstance which may be considered: Provided, That nothing in this
section establishes a right to have members of a protected class elected in numbers equal to their
proportion in the population” (52 USC § 10301[b]).

A violation of section 2 occurs “where an ‘electoral structure operates to minimize
or cancel out’ minority voters’ ‘ability to elect their preferred candidates.” Such a risk is greatest
‘where minority and majority voters consistently prefer different candidates’ and where minority
voters are submerged in a majority voting population that ‘regularly defeat[s]’ their choices” (4//en
v Milligan, 599 US at 17-18, quoting Thornburg v Gingles, 478 US 30, 48). In interpreting section
2, the United States Supreme Court developed the Gingles test for deciding section 2 claims. The
Gingles test “focuses . . . on vote dilution accomplished through cracking or packing, i.e., ‘the
dispersal of [a protected class of voters] into districts in which they constitute an ineffective minority
of voters or from the concentration of [those voters] into districts where they constitute an excessive
majority’” (4bbott v Perez, 585 US 579, 627 n 2 [Sotomoyor, J., dissenting], quoting Thornburg v
Gingles, 478 US at 46 n 11).

“To succeed in proving a § 2 violation under Gingles, plaintiffs must satisfy three
preconditions. First, the minority group must be sufficiently large and [geographically] compact to
constitute a majority in a reasonably configured district. A district will be reasonably configured .

. if it comports with traditional districting criteria, such as being contiguous and reasonably
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compact. Second, the minority group must be able to show that it is politically cohesive. And third,
the minority must be able to demonstrate that the white majority votes sufficiently as a bloc to enable
it . . . to defeat the minority’s preferred candidate. Finally, a plaintiff who demonstrates the three
preconditions must also show, under the totality of the circumstances, that the political process is
not equally open to minority voters” (Allen v Milligan, 599 US at 18 [citations and internal quotation
marks omitted]). Factors relevant to this last determination include: “the extent of any history of
official discrimination in the state or political subdivision that touched the right of the members of
the minority group to register, to vote, or otherwise to participate in the democratic process; . . . the
extent to which voting in the elections of the state or political subdivision is racially polarized; . .
. the extent to which the state or political subdivision has used unusually large election districts,
majority vote requirements, anti-single shot provisions, or other voting practices or procedures that
may enhance the opportunity for discrimination against the minority group; . . . if there is a candidate
slating process, whether the members of the minority group have been denied access to that process;
... the extent to which members of the minority group in the state or political subdivision bear the
effects of discrimination in such areas as education, employment and health, which hinder their
ability to participate effectively in the political process; . . . whether political campaigns have been
characterized by overt or subtle racial appeals; . . . the extent to which members of the minority
group have been elected to public office in the jurisdiction . . . whether there is a significant lack of
responsiveness on the part of elected officials to the particularized needs of the members of the
minority group[; and] whether the policy underlying the state or political subdivision’s use of such
voting qualification, prerequisite to voting, or standard, practice or procedure is tenuous” (Thornburg
v Gingles, 478 US at 36-37 [internal quotation marks omitted]). In the 39 years that has followed
Gingles, courts have required the creation of majority-minority districts all over the country (see
Allen v Milligan, 599 US at 19).

In Voinovich v Quilter (507 US 146), the United States Supreme Court first
considered an “influence-dilution” claim, in which the “complaint . . . is not that black voters have
been deprived of the ability to constitute a majority, but of the possibility of being a sufficiently large
minority to elect their candidate of choice with the assistance of cross-over voters from the white
majority” (id. at 158). In doing so, the court stated that “[o]f course, the Gingles factors cannot be

applied mechanically and without regard to the nature of the claim. For example, the first Gingles
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precondition, the requirement that the group be sufficiently large to constitute a majority in a single
district, would have to be modified or eliminated when analyzing the influence-dilution claim we
assume, arguendo, to be actionable today” (id.).

However, in Bartlett v Strickland (556 US 1), the United States Supreme Court
reached the issue and held that section 2 could not be invoked to require the creation of such
influence or crossover districts (see id. at 6). Nevertheless, the controlling opinion in Bartlett noted
that “[o]ur holding that § 2 does not require crossover districts does not consider the permissibility
of such districts as a matter of legislative choice or discretion” and that “[s]tates that wish to draw
crossover districts are free to do so where no other prohibition exists” (id. at 23-24 [Kennedy, J.]).

Federal Circuit Courts of Appeal are split as to whether “coalition claims” are
permitted under section 2 of the FVRA, where members of different races or language-minority
groups claim that they are politically cohesive and that their combined voting strength would
constitute a majority in a reasonably compact district (see Growe v Emison, 507 US 25, 41 [assuming
without deciding that it was permissible for the District Court to combine distinct ethnic and
language minority groups for purposes of assessing compliance with section 2 of the FVRA];
Petteway v Galveston County, 111 F4th 596, 599 [5th Cir] [overruling a prior decision and holding
that section 2 of the FVRA does not authorize coalitions of racial and language minorities to claim
vote dilution in legislative redistricting]; Clerveaux v East Ramapo Centr. Sch. Dist., 984 F3d 213,
323-233 [2d Cir] [finding that the second and third Gingles preconditions were met based on
evidence “that black and Latino residents were politically cohesive and that white residents voted
as a bloc”]).

Recently, the United States Supreme Court rejected arguments made by the State of
Alabama that section 2 of the FVRA “as applied to redistricting is unconstitutional under the
Fifteenth Amendment” and that “the Fifteenth Amendment does not authorize race-based
redistricting as a remedy for § 2 violations” (4llen v Milligan, 599 US at 41). The Court explained
that “we held over 40 years ago ‘that, even if § 1 of the [Fifteenth] Amendment prohibits only
purposeful discrimination, the prior decisions of this Court foreclose any argument that Congress
may not, pursuant to § 2 [of the Fifteenth Amendment] outlaw voting practices that are
discriminatory in effect,”” and that the VRA’s “‘ban on electoral changes that are discriminatory in

effect . . . is an appropriate method of promoting the purposes of the Fifteenth Amendment’” (id.,
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quoting City of Rome v United States, 446 US 156, 173, 177). The Court further explained that “for
the last four decades, this Court and the lower federal courts have repeatedly applied the effects test
of § 2 as interpreted in Gingles and, under certain circumstances, have authorized race-based
redistricting as a remedy for state districting maps that violate § 2. In light of that precedent. . .,
we are not persuaded by Alabama’s arguments that § 2 as interpreted in Gingles exceeds the
remedial authority of Congress” (id. [citations omitted]).

ML The NYVRA

In 2022, the Legislature enacted the NYVRA in order to “[e|ncourage participation
in the elective franchise by all eligible voters to the maximum extent” (Election Law § 17-200[ 1])
and to “[e]nsure that eligible voters who are members of racial, color, and language-minority groups
shall have an equal opportunity to participate in the political processes of the state of New York, and
especially to exercise the elective franchise” (id. § 17-200[2]). According to the Governor’s
Approval Memorandum, the act “ensures that the state continues to move toward being a national
leader in voting rights. As the federal government fails to fulfill its duty to uphold voting rights
across the nation, it is now incumbent upon states to step-up and step-in” (Governor’s Approval
Mem, Bill Jacket, L 2022, ch 226 at 5). In response to Shelby County v Holder and Congress’s
failure to update the coverage formula, the NYVRA mandates that certain changes in voting laws
in certain covered jurisdictions be precleared by the Civil Rights Bureau of the Office of the New
York State Attorney General or by a designated court (see Election Law §§ 17-204[8]; 17-210).
Among other things, the NY VRA also contains sections prohibiting voter suppression, intimidation,
deception, and obstruction (see id. §§ 17-206[1]; 17-212).

As relevant to this action, similar to section 2 of the FVRA, and modeled after very
similar laws enacted in California and Washington (see Cal Elec Code § 14025 et seq.; Wash. Rev.
Code 29A.92.005 ef seq.), the NYVRA contains a “[p]rohibition against vote dilution,” which
provides that no political subdivision “shall use any method of election, having the effect of
impairing the ability of members of a protected class to elect candidates of their choice or influence

the outcome of elections, as a result of vote dilution” (Election Law § 17-206[2][a]).> A “protected

* For the purposes of demonstrating that vote dilution has occurred, the NYVRA provides that
“evidence shall be weighed and considered as follows: (i) elections conducted prior to the filing of
an action pursuant to this subdivision are more probative than elections conducted after the filing
of the action; (ii) evidence concerning elections for members of the governing body of the political
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class” is defined as “a class of individuals who are members of a race, color, or language-minority
group, including individuals who are members of a minimum reporting category that has ever been
officially recognized by the United States census bureau” (id. § 17-204[5]). The NYVRA provides
that a violation of the vote dilution provision “shall be established upon a showing that a political
subdivision” used “an at-large method of election” and either “voting patterns of members of the
protected class within the political subdivision are racially polarized,” or “under the totality of the
circumstances, the ability of members of the protected class to elect candidates of their choice or

influence the outcome of elections is impaired” (id. § 17-206[2][b][i][A]-[B]).* The NYVRA also

subdivision are more probative than evidence concerning other elections; (iii) statistical evidence
is more probative than non-statistical evidence; (iv) where there is evidence that more than one
protected class of eligible voters are politically cohesive in the political subdivision, members of
each of those protected classes may be combined; (v) evidence concerning the intent on the part of
the voters, elected officials, or the political subdivision to discriminate against a protected class is
not required; (vi) evidence that voting patterns and election outcomes could be explained by factors
other than racially polarized voting, including but not limited to partisanship, shall not be considered;
(vii) evidence that sub-groups within a protected class have different voting patterns shall not be
considered; (viii) evidence concerning whether members of a protected class are geographically
compact or concentrated shall not be considered, but may be a factor in determining an appropriate
remedy; and (ix) evidence concerning projected changes in population or demographics shall not be
considered, but may be a factor, in determining an appropriate remedy” (Election Law § 206[2][c]).

? “Racially polarized voting” is defined as “voting in which there is a divergence in the candidate,
political preferences, or electoral choice of members in a protected class from the candidates, or
electoral choice of the rest of the electorate” (Election Law § 17-204[6]).

* In making a “totality of the circumstances” determination, “factors that may be considered shall
include, but not be limited to: (a) the history of discrimination in or affecting the political
subdivision; (b) the extent to which members of the protected class have been elected to office in
the political subdivision; (c) the use of any voting qualification, prerequisite to voting, law,
ordinance, standard, practice, procedure, regulation, or policy that may enhance the dilutive effects
of the election scheme; (d) denying eligible voters or candidates who are members of the protected
class to processes determining which groups of candidates receive access to the ballot, financial
support, or other support in a given election; (e) the extent to which members of the protected class
contribute to political campaigns at lower rates; (f) the extent to which members of a protected class
in the state or political subdivision vote at lower rates than other members of the electorate; (g) the
extent to which members of the protected class are disadvantaged in areas including but not limited
to education, employment, health, criminal justice, housing, land use, or environmental protection;
(h) the extent to which members of the protected class are disadvantaged in other areas which may
hinder their ability to participate effectively in the political process; (i) the use of overt or subtle
racial appeals in political campaigns; (j) a significant lack of responsiveness on the part of elected
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provides that a violation of the vote dilution provision “shall be established upon a showing that a

29 ¢

political subdivision” “used a district-based or alternative method of election and that candidates or
electoral choices preferred by members of the protected class would usually be defeated, and either:
(A) voting patterns of members of the protected class within the political subdivision are racially
polarized; or (B) under the totality of the circumstances, the ability of members of the protected class
to elect candidates of their choice or influence the outcome of elections is impaired” (id. § 17-
206[2][b][ii]).

“Any aggrieved person” may file an action against a political subdivision pursuant
to Election Law § 17-206(4), and upon a finding of a violation of the vote dilution prohibition, a
court “shall implement appropriate remedies to ensure that voters of race, color, and language-
minority groups have equitable access to fully participate in the electoral process . . . , which may
include (1) a district-based method of election; (ii) an alternative method of election ; (iii) new or
revised districting or redistricting plans; (iv) elimination of staggered elections so that all members
of the governing body are elected on the same date; [or] (V) reasonably increasing the size of the
governing body” (id. § 17-206[5][a][i]-[v]). “Alternative method of election” is defined as “a
method of electing members to the governing body of a political subdivision using a method other
than at-large or district-based, including, but not limited to, ranked-choice voting’, cumulative
voting®, and limited voting” (id. § 17-204[3]). “Coalition claims [are] permitted,” in that
“[m]embers of different protected classes may file an action jointly pursuant to this title in the event

that they demonstrate that the combined voting preferences of the multiple protected classes are

officials to the particularized needs of members of the protected class; and (k) whether the political
subdivision has a compelling policy justification that is substantiated and supported by evidence for
adopting or maintaining the method of election or the voting qualification, prerequisite to voting,
law, ordinance, standard, practice, procedure, regulation, or policy. Nothing in this subdivision shall
preclude any additional factors from being considered, nor shall any specified number of factors be
required in establishing that such a violation has occurred” (id. § 17-206[3]).

> Ranked-choice voting is “where a voter ranks candidates in order of preference, and votes are
transferred to lower-ranked candidates who are not elected on first-place votes if a majority is not
reached” (Portugal v Franklin County, 1 Wash 3d 629, 640, 530 P3d 994, 1002).

® Cumulative voting is “where a voter receives as many votes as there are candidates to elect, but
may cast multiple votes for a single candidate” (id.).

" Limited voting is “where a voter receives fewer votes than there are candidates to elect” (id.).
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polarized against the rest of the electorate” (id. § 17-206[8]).

Thus, the major differences between the vote dilution provisions of the FVRA and
the NYVRA are that the NYVRA, like the California and Washington statutes, permits “influence”
claims, and does not require the first Gingles precondition, i.e., that the minority group must be
sufficiently large and geographically compact to constitute a majority in a reasonably configured
district (see Cal Elec Code §§ 14027, 14028[c]; Wash. Rev. Code 29A.92.030[5]; Pico
Neighborhood Assn. v City of Santa Monica, 15 Cal 5th 292, 316, 534 P3d 54, 65-66, 312 Cal Rptr
3d 319, 332; Portugal v Franklin County, 1 Wash 3d at 638-640, 530 P3d at 1001-1004). The
NYVRA, like the California and Washington statutes, also allows for non-district based remedies,
such as ranked-choice voting, cumulative voting, limited voting, and the elimination of staggered
terms (see Election Law §§ 17-204[3]; 17-206[5][a][ii], [iV]; Pico Neighborhood Assn. v City of
Santa Monica, 15 Cal 5th at 317, 534 P3d at 66, 312 Cal Rptr at 333; Portugal v Franklin County,
1 Wash 3d at 640, 530 P3d at 1002). While the text of Election Law § 17-206(2)(b)(1) suggests that
a vote dilution claim shall be established simply upon a showing that a political subdivision used an
at-large method of election and the voting patterns are racially polarized, the California Supreme
Court, in interpreting a nearly identical provision, concluded that it should not be so-construed,
explaining:

“In plaintiffs' view, proof of racially polarized voting, in itself, establishes
‘dilution” within the meaning of the CVRA [California Voting Rights Act].
They rely on the ‘plain language’ of Elections Code section 14028,
subdivision (a), which provides, “A violation of Section 14027 is established
if it 1s shown that racially polarized voting occurs in elections for members
of the governing body of the political subdivision . . . .” (Italics added.)
According to plaintiffs, ‘Section 14028 expressly states how a violation of
Section 14027 is shown’—i.e., simply by demonstrating the existence of
racially polarized voting in an at-large jurisdiction.

“When considered in isolation, this single sentence might arguably be
susceptible to plaintiffs’ reading. However, a court construing a statute does
not view a fragment in isolation, but considers the statute as a whole, in
context with related provisions and the overall statutory structure, so that it
may best identify and effectuate the scheme's underlying purpose. As
plaintiffs concede, and as the legislative history reveals, the CVRA is in many
ways very similar to the VRA. When we construe ‘dilution’ under the
CVRA, we must therefore be mindful that it is a term of art with a settled
meaning under section 2 of the VRA: ‘The phrase vote dilution itself suggests
anorm with respect to which the fact of dilution may be ascertained.” (Holder
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v. Hall (1994) 512 U.S. 874, 880 [129 L. Ed. 2d 687, 114 S. Ct. 2581] (plur.
opn. of Kennedy, J.).) To establish vote dilution under the VRA, ‘a court
must find a reasonable alternative practice as a benchmark against which to
measure the existing voting practice.” (Holder, at p. 880 . . . (plur. opn. of
Kennedy, J.); id. at p. 887 . .. (conc. opn. of O'Connor, J.) [‘On this, there is
general agreement’]; id. at p. 951 . . . (dis. opn. of Blackmun, J.) [‘There is
widespread agreement’].) So while the existence of racially polarized voting
‘isrelevant to a vote dilution claim’ under the VRA (Gingles, supra, 478 U.S.
at p. 55)—and is indeed ‘a key element’ (ibid.)—it is not in itself sufficient.

“We find, for several reasons, the same is true under the CVRA. The
similarities between the two schemes strongly suggest that ‘dilution’ requires
not only a showing that racially polarized voting exists, but also that the
protected class thereby has less ability to elect its preferred candidate or
influence the election’s outcome than it would have if the at-large system had
not been adopted. . . . Although the legislative history materials can be read
in different ways, one committee analysis recognized that the CVRA targets
racially polarized voting in at-large elections only if it Impairs the Right of
Protected Groups to elect their preferred candidates or influence the outcome
of an election. After all, ‘the very concept of vote dilution implies—and,
indeed, necessitates—the existence of an “undiluted” practice against which
the fact of dilution may be measured.” (Reno v. Bossier Parish School Bd.
(1997) 520 U.S. 471, 480 [137 L. Ed. 2d 730, 117 S. Ct. 1491].)

“Plaintiffs’ construction would allow a party to prevail based solely on proof
of racially polarized voting that could not be remedied or ameliorated by any
other electoral system. Moreover, such a construction would render the word
‘dilution’ in Elections Code section 14027 surplusage. Accordingly, we agree
with the Court of Appeal that dilution is a separate element under the CVRA.
To establish the dilution element, a plaintiffin a CVRA action must identify
a reasonable alternative voting practice to the existing at-large electoral
system that will ‘serve as the benchmark “undiluted” voting practice.’ (Reno
v. Bossier Parish School Bd., supra, 520 U.S. atp. 480)” (Pico Neighborhood
Assn. v City of Santa Monica, 15 Cal 5th at 314-315, 534 P3d at 64-65, 312
Cal Rptr 3d at 330-331 [citations and internal quotation marks omitted]).

The plaintiffs in this case interpret the NYVRA as similarly requiring plaintiffs to
demonstrate a reasonable alternative practice before obtaining relief.
V. This Action

The Town of Newburgh is a political subdivision in Orange County with a population

of about 32,000. The Town Board is the Town’s legislative and policy-making authority, and the
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five members of the Town Board® are chosen through at-large elections, meaning that every
registered voter residing within the Town is eligible to vote for each Town Board member position.

In March 2024, the plaintiffs commenced this action against the Town and the Town
Board alleging vote dilution in violation of Election Law § 17-206 and seeking a judgment ordering
the implementation of a new method of election for the Town Board that includes either a districting
plan or an alternative method of election. The complaint alleges that Black and Hispanic
communities comprise approximately 25 percent and 15 percent, respectively, of the Town’s
population, yet every person ever elected to the Town Board has been white. The defendants moved
for summary judgment dismissing the complaint, arguing that the NY VRA’s vote dilution provisions
violate the Equal Protection Clauses of the Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution
and the New York Constitution or, in the alternative, that the Town’s at-large voting system
complied with the NYVRA . In opposition, the plaintiff contended, inter alia, that the defendants
lacked the capacity to challenge the constitutionality of the NYVRA.

The Supreme Court granted the defendants’ motion, concluding that the NYVR A was
facially unconstitutional in violation of the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.
The court also directed that the NYVRA was “stricken in its entirety from further enforcement and
application to these Defendants and to any other political subdivision in the State of New York.”
The plaintiffs appeal. The Attorney General of the State of New York (hereinafter the AG) has also
intervened as an appellant (see Executive Law § 71; 22 NYCRR 1250.9[1]).

V. Capacity

The plaintiffs and the AG contend that the defendants lack the capacity to challenge
the constitutionality of the NYVRA’s vote dilution provisions.

“Capacity ‘concerns a litigant’s power to appear and bring its grievance before the
court’” (Matter of World Trade Ctr. Lower Manhattan Disaster Site Litig., 30 NY3d 377, 384,
quoting Community Bd. 7 of Borough of Manhattan v Schaffer, 84 NY2d 148, 155). “[T]he
traditional principle throughout the United States has been that municipalities and other local
governmental corporate entities and their officers lack capacity to mount constitutional challenges
to acts of the State and State legislation. . . . Constitutionally as well as a matter of historical fact,

municipal corporate bodies . . . are merely subdivisions of the State, created by the State for the

¥ The Town Board consists of a Town Supervisor and four other members.
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convenient carrying out of the State’s governmental powers and responsibilities as its agents.
Viewed, therefore, by the courts as purely creatures or agents of the State, it follow[s] that municipal
corporate bodies cannot have the right to contest the actions of their principal or creator affecting
them in their governmental capacity or as representatives of their inhabitants™ (City of New York v
State of New York, 86 NY2d 286, 289-290). This rule has been applied to municipal entities raising
a constitutional challenge in defense of a lawsuit (see Matter of World Trade Ctr. Lower Manhattan
Disaster Site Litig., 30 NY3d at 393; In re World Trade Center Lower Manhattan Disaster Site
Litigation, 892 F3d 108, 109-111 [2d Cir]).

However, as the Court of Appeals has stated, “[t]he capacity rule is not absolute. . .
. [T]he assertion of some constitutional rights may, by their nature, present special circumstances to
which the general rule must yield. To date, we have identified a limited number of situations
presenting such special circumstances, such as . . . where a public entity asserts that if it is obligated
to comply with a statute it ‘will by that very compliance be forced to violate a constitutional
proscription’” (Matter of World Trade Ctr. Lower Manhattan Disaster Site Litig., 30 NY3d at 386,
quoting City of New York v State of New York, 86 NY2d at 292 [citations and internal quotation
marks omitted]). “[T]he exceptions we have recognized to date are narrow. Under the general rule,
we have barred public entities from challenging a wide variety of state actions, such as, e.g., the
allocation of state funds amongst various localities, the modification of a village-operated hospital’s
operating certificate, the closure of a local jail by the State, special exemptions from local real estate
tax assessments, state land use regulations, and state laws requiring electric voting systems to be
installed at polling places in lieu of lever-operated machines” (id. at 387 [citations omitted]).

The only exception to the general rule that the defendants invoke is for circumstances
where a municipality’s compliance with a state statute would force it to violate a constitutional
proscription. Accordingly, to succeed on their constitutional argument, the defendants must establish
that compliance with the NYVRA would force them to violate the Equal Protection Clause (see
Board of Educ. of Mt. Sinai Union Free Sch. Dist. v New York State Teachers Retirement Sys., 60
F3d 106, 112 [2d Cir]; Blakeman v James, 2024 WL 3201671, *14, 2024 US Dist LEXIS 115441,
*36-38 [ED NY, No. 2:24-cv-1655 (NJC) (LGD)]; Merola v Cuomo, 427 F Supp 3d 286, 293 [ND
NY]). For the reasons discussed below, it cannot be said as a matter of law on this record that

compliance with the NYVRA would force the defendants to violate the Equal Protection Clause.
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VI The Equal Protection Clause

“A statute enjoy[s] a strong presumption of constitutionality. To rebut that
presumption, the party attempting to strike down a statute as facially unconstitutional bears the heavy
burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the statute is in conflict with the Constitution”
(People v Viviani,36 NY3d 564, 576 [citations and internal quotation marks omitted]). Courts strike
statutes down “only as a last unavoidable result after every reasonable mode of reconciliation of the
statute with the Constitution has been resorted to, and reconciliation has been found impossible”
(White v Cuomo, 38 NY3d 209, 216 [citation and internal quotation marks omitted]). A party
making a facial challenge must “demonstrate that ‘in any degree and in every conceivable
application,’ the law suffers wholesale constitutional impairment” (Cohen v State of New York, 94
NY2d 1, 8, quoting McGowan v Burstein, 71 NY2d 729, 733). “A successful facial challenge means

299

that the law is ‘invalid in foto——and therefore incapable of any valid application’” (People v Stuart,

100 NY2d 412, 421, quoting Hoffman Estates v Flipside, Hoffman Estates, Inc., 455 US 489, 494
n5). “Facial challenges are disfavored for several reasons. Claims of facial invalidity often rest on
speculation. As a consequence, they raise the risk of premature interpretation of statutes on the basis
of factually barebones records. Facial challenges also run contrary to the fundamental principle of
judicial restraint that courts should neither anticipate a question of constitutional law in advance of
the necessity of deciding it nor formulate a rule of constitutional law broader than is required by the
precise facts to which it is to be applied. Finally, facial challenges threaten to short circuit the
democratic process by preventing laws embodying the will of the people from being implemented
in a manner consistent with the Constitution. [Courts] must keep in mind that [a] ruling of
unconstitutionality frustrates the intent of the elected representatives of the people” (Washington
State Grange v Washington State Republican Party, 552 US 442, 450-451 [citations and internal
quotation marks omitted]).

While Congress has the authority to enact anti-discrimination laws under section 5
of the Fourteenth Amendment of the United States Constitution and section 2 of the Fifteenth
Amendment of the United States Constitution, the New York State Legislature has the authority to
enact statutes that protect against racial discrimination pursuant to its general police power (see
Executive Law § 290[2]; Roberts v United States Jaycees, 468 US 609, 624; Matter of Holland v
Edwards, 282 App Div 353, 357, affd 307 NY 38), and has “‘broad powers to determine the
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conditions under which the right of suffrage may be exercised’” (Shelby County v Holder, 570 US
at 543, quoting Carrington v Rash, 380 US 89, 91). However, in exercising that authority, the New
Y ork State Legislature must comply with the Equal Protection Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment.

The Fourteenth Amendment provides that no state shall “deny to any person within
its jurisdiction the equal protection of the laws” (US Const, 14th Amend, § 1). “Alleged equal
protection violations are primarily evaluated using either a ‘strict scrutiny’ or ‘rational basis’
standard of review” (People v Aviles, 28 NY3d at 502). “It is well established that when the
government distributes burdens or benefits on the basis of individual racial classifications, that action
is reviewed under strict scrutiny” (Parents Involved in Community Schools v Seattle School Dist. No.
1,551 US 701, 720). “‘[A]ll racial classifications [imposed by government] . . . must be analyzed
by a reviewing court under strict scrutiny’” (Johnson v California, 543 US 499, 505, quoting
Adarand Constructors, Inc. v Pena, 515 US 200, 227). “‘[R]acial classifications receive close
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scrutiny even when they may be said to burden or benefit the races equally’” (Johnson v California,
543 US at 506, quoting Shaw v Reno, 509 US 630, 651; see Brown v Board of Education, 347 US
483). The United States Supreme Court has “insisted on strict scrutiny in every context, even for
so-called benign racial classifications, such as race-conscious university admissions policies, race-
based preferences in governmental contracts, and race-based districting intended to improve minority
representation” (Johnson v California, 543 US at 505 [citations and internal quotation marks
omitted]).

Strict scrutiny “ask[s], first, whether the racial classification is used to further
compelling governmental interests” and “[s]econd, . . . whether the government’s use of race is
narrowly tailored —meaning necessary— to achieve that interest” (Students for Fair Admissions,
Inc. v President and Fellows of Harvard College, 600 US 181, 206-207 [citation and internal
quotation marks omitted]). If there is no basis for imposing a heightened level of scrutiny, “then
the provision may be sustained if there is a rational basis for its enactment,” meaning that the
governmental action must be “rationally related to [a] legitimate State interest” (Golden v Clark, 76
NY2d 618, 624).

Here, the defendants contend that any change of its at-large electoral system to
comply with the NY VRA would violate the Equal Protection Clause because it would be done with
the express purpose of giving citizens statutorily grouped together by race greater electoral success

than its at-large system, and that the NYVRA, unlike the FVRA, is not narrowly tailored to achieve
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a compelling governmental interest.

Initially, we agree with the plaintiffs and the AG that strict scrutiny does not apply
to all applications of the vote dilution provisions of the NYVRA. The statute gives rights to
“members of a race, color, or language-minority group” (Election Law § 17-204[5]; see id. § 17-
206[2]) in order to “ensure that voters of race, color, and language-minority groups have equitable
access to fully participate in the electoral process™ (id. § 17-206[5][a]). “[I]t is familiar law that a
statute should be construed so as to avoid doubts concerning its constitutionality” (Matter of Lorie
C.,49NY2d 161, 171). Bearing this maxim in mind, we agree with the plaintiffs and the AG that
the statute should be construed as allowing members of all racial groups, including white voters, to
bring vote dilution claims, including when white voters constitute a minority in a political
subdivision, as is the case in certain jurisdictions in New York (see Portugal v Franklin County, 1
Wash 3d at 648, 530 P3d at 1006 [stating that the Washington Voting Rights Act, which similarly
allows “voters who are members of a race, color, or language minority group in the state of
Washington, as this class is referenced and defined in the [FVRA]” (Wash. Rev. Code §
29A.92.010[6]) to bring vote dilution claims, “on its face, . . . requires equal opportunit[ies] for
voters of all races, colors, and language minority groups” (internal quotation marks omitted)];
Sanchez v City of Modesto, 145 Cal App 4th 660, 666, 51 Cal Rptr 3d 821, 826 [stating that the
CVRA, which similarly allows “voters who are members of a race, color, or language minority
group, as this class is referenced and defined in the federal Voting Rights Act of 1965 (Cal Elec
Code § 14026[d]) to bring vote dilution claims, “gives a cause of action to members of any racial
or ethnic group that can establish that its members’ votes are diluted through the combination of
racially polarized voting and an at-large election system” and that “any racial group can experience
the kind of vote dilution the CVRA was designed to combat, including Whites. Just as non-Whites
in majority-White cities may have a cause of action under the CVRA, so may Whites in majority-
non-White Cities. Both demographic situations exist in California . . ., and the CVRA applies to
each in exactly the same way”]; see also United States v Brown, 494 F Supp 2d 440, 444 [SD Miss]
[“Section 2 [of the FVRA] provides no less protection to white voters than any other class of
voters”], affd 561 F3d 420 [5th Cir]).

In upholding the California and Washington vote dilution statutes, courts have held
that they were neither subject to strict scrutiny nor facially in violation of the Equal Protection

Clause. In Sanchez v City of Modesto (145 Cal App 4th at 666, 51 Cal Rptr 3d at 826), the
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California Court of Appeal for the Fifth Appellate District explained: “The CVRA is race neutral.
It does not favor any race over others or allocate burdens or benefits to any groups on the basis of
race. It simply gives a cause of action to members of any racial or ethnic group that can establish
that its members’ votes are diluted through the combination of racially polarized voting and an at-
large election system . . . . In this respect, it is similar to other long-standing statutes that create
causes of action for racial discrimination, such as the federal Civil Rights Act or California’s Fair
Employment and Housing Act.” The court further noted that the defendants’ argument “collapses
as soon as it is applied to the FVRA. . . . [S]ection 2 of the FVRA does not require a showing of
intentional discrimination. No court has ever suggested, to our knowledge, that strict scrutiny
applies to section 2 of the FVRA and that it would fail for this reason” (Sanchez 145 Cal App 4th
at 682, 51 Cal Rptr 3d at 839). Similarly, in Higginson v Becerra (786 Fed Appx 705), the United
States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit affirmed the dismissal of a complaint brought by a
resident of the City of Poway who alleged that he resided in a racially gerrymandered electoral
district because of the CVRA, explaining that the complaint “does not allege that the City or the
CVRA distribute[d] burdens or benefits on the basis of individual racial classifications. Although
a finding of racially polarized voting triggers the application of the CVRA, it is well settled that
governments may adopt measures designed ‘to eliminate racial disparities through race-neutral
means’” (id. at 706-707, quoting Texas Dept. of Housing and Comunity Affairs v Inclusive
Communities Project, Inc., 576 US 519, 545 [citation and internal quotation marks omitted]). The
United States Supreme Court denied certiorari (see Higginson v Becerra, 140 S Ct 2807). Finally,
in Portugal v Franklin County (Wash 3d at 658, 530 P3d at 1011), the Supreme Court of
Washington held that the Washington Voting Rights Act (hereinafter WVRA) “on its face does not
classify voters on the basis of race, nor does it deprive anyone of the fundamental right to vote.
Instead, the WVRA mandates equal voting opportunities for members of every race, color, and
language minority group,” thus triggering rational basis review and not strict scrutiny (see Coads v
Nassau County,  Misc 3d _, 2024 NY Slip Op 24314 [Sup Ct, Nassau County] [concluding that
the vote dilution provisions of the NYVRA do not facially violate the Equal Protection Clause]).
It is true that “[u]nder the Equal Protection Clause, districting maps that sort voters
on the basis of race are by their very nature odious” and “cannot be upheld unless they are narrowly
tailored to achieving a compelling state interest” (Wisconsin Legislature v Wisconsin Elections

Comm’n, 595 US 398, 401 [internal quotation marks omitted]). “‘Racial gerrymandering, even for
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remedial purposes, may balkanize us into competing racial factions; it threatens to carry us further
from the goal of a political system in which race no longer matters—a goal that the Fourteenth and
Fifteenth Amendments embody, and to which the Nation continues to aspire’” (Bartlett v Strickland,
556 US at 21, quoting Shaw v Reno, 509 US at 657). “When the State assigns voters on the basis
of race, it engages in the offensive and demeaning assumption that voters of a particular race,
because of their race, ‘think alike, share the same political interests, and will prefer the same
candidates at the polls’” (Miller v Johnson, 515 US 900, 911-912, quoting Shaw v Reno, 509 US at
647). “The message that such districting sends to elected representatives is equally pernicious.
When a district obviously is created solely to effectuate the perceived common interests of one racial
group, elected officials are more likely to believe that their primary obligation is to represent only
the members of that group, rather than their constituency as a whole” (Shaw v Reno, 509 US at 648).
The United States Supreme Court has “assumed” that complying with section 2 of the FVRA is a
compelling interest, but also held that “when a State invokes § 2 to justify race-based districting, ‘it
must show (to meet the narrow tailoring requirement) that it had a strong basis in evidence for

29

concluding that the statute required its action’ (Wisconsin Legislature v Wisconsin Elections
Comm’n, 595 US at 402 [internal quotation marks omitted], quoting Cooper v Harris, 581 US 285,
292; see Bush v Vera, 517 US 952, 979-982; Shaw v Hunt, 517 US 899, 908-918; Miller v Johnson,
515 US at 921).

However, race-based districting is only one of the possible remedies under the
NYVRA; the NYVRA also contemplates remedies that do not sort voters based on race, such as such
as ranked-choice voting, cumulative voting, limited voting, and the elimination of staggered terms
(see Election Law §§ 17-204[3]; 17-206[5][a][ii],[iv]; Collins v City of Norfolk, Va.,883 F2d 1232,
1236 [4th Cir] [noting that the potential for vote dilution in an at-large system “may be enhanced by
staggered terms”]; Theodore S. Arrington & Gerald L. Ingalls, The limited vote alternative to
affirmative districting, 17 Political Geography 6, 701-728 [ August 1998] [presenting evidence that
the number of minority candidates and their chance of winning increased when limited voting
replaced simple at-large systems]). Even if a district-based system is used as a remedy, strict

(133

scrutiny would only apply if race is the “‘predominant factor in drawing district lines’” (Allen v
Milligan, 599 US at 31 [Opinion of Roberts, C.J., joined by Justices Sotomayor, Kagan, and
Jackson] [concluding that a remedial map drawn to remedy a violation of section 2 of the FVRA was

not subject to strict scrutiny because the plaintiffs’ expert mapmaker testified that although race was
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a consideration, it did not predominate over other factors in drawing district lines], quoting Cooper
v Harris, 581 US at 291; see Bethune-Hill v Virginia State Bd. of Elections, 580 US 178, 189-190
[race may predominate even when a reapportionment plan respects traditional districting principles
if race-neutral considerations came into play only after the race-based decision had been made, or
if race for its own sake is the overriding reason for choosing one map over others]; Miller v Johnson,
515 US at 916 [although redistricting legislatures will almost always be aware of racial
demographics, it does not follow from that that race predominates in the redistricting process]; Pico
Neighborhood Assn. v City of Santa Monica, 15 Cal 5th at 323, 534 P3d at 70, 312 Cal Rptr 3d at
337 [rejecting a contention that a majority-minority requirement—or something close to it in the
form of a near-majority requirement—was necessary to avoid difficult constitutional questions under
the Equal Protection Clause, and noting that “nothing in the CVRA requires a municipality or a court
to select a district-based remedy or, even if it chooses to do so, to draw district lines, as the City
contends, based ‘principally on race’” rather than other statutorily-prescribed redistricting factors]).

As the California Court of Appeal for the Fifth Appellate District explained in
rejecting a facial challenge to the CVRA: “The city may . . . use similar arguments to attempt to
show as-applied invalidity later if liability is proven and a specific application or remedy is
considered that warrants the attempt. For example, if the court entertains a remedy that uses race,
such as a district-based election system in which race is a factor in establishing district boundaries,
defendants may again assert the meaty constitutional issues they have raised here. In doing so, at that
time they can ask the court to decide whether the particular application or remedy is discriminatory”
(Sanchez v City of Modesto, 145 Cal App 4th at 665, 51 Cal Rptr 3d at 825-826). The State of
Washington’s highest court has made a similar determination (see Portugal v Franklin County, 1
Wash 3d at 659, 530 P3d at 1012 [“Without a doubt, the WVRA could be applied in an
unconstitutional manner, and it is subject to as-applied challenges. However, . ..the WVRA, on its
face, does not require unconstitutional actions”]).

Further, we conclude that the NYVRA need not contain the first Gingles
precondition, that the “minority group . . . be sufficiently large and [geographically] compact to
constitute a majority in a reasonably configured district” (4llen v Milligan, 599 US at 18 [internal
quotation marks omitted]), to survive a facial challenge to its constitutionality under the Equal
Protection Clause. The United States Supreme Court has never said that the Gingles test was

required by the constitution, as opposed to resulting from a statutory interpretation of section 2 of
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the FVRA (see Portugal v Franklin County, 1 Wash 3d at 659, 530 P3d at 1011-1012). The only
time the Fourteenth Amendment is mentioned in the majority opinion in Gingles is in the
background section where the court noted that the plaintiffs’ lawsuit challenged the subject districts
as violating the Fourteenth and Fifteenth Amendments in addition to violating section 2 of the FVRA
(see Thornburg v Gingles, 478 US at 35). The reason that the United States Supreme Court included
the first Gingles precondition was because of its conclusion that if the minority group were unable
to demonstrate that it was sufficiently large and geographically compact to constitute a majority in
a single-member district, “the multi-member form of the district [could not] be responsible for
minority voters’ inability to elect its candidates” (id. at 50). Gingles was not contemplating
influence districts or remedies such as ranked-choice voting, cumulative voting, limited voting, or
the elimination of staggered terms. As the United States Supreme Court noted in Voinovich v
Quilter (507 US at 158),““|o]f course, the Gingles factors cannot be applied mechanically and without
regard to the nature of the claim.” Since the NYVRA specifically allows for remedies that might
allow for minorities to elect their candidates of choice or influence the outcome of elections without
their constituting a majority in a single-member district, it was rational for the New York Legislature
to not include the first Gingles precondition as a precondition to liability under the NYVRA (see
Portugal v Franklin County, 1 Wash 3d at 640-641, 530 P3d at 1003 [“Because the WVRA
contemplates a broader range of remedies than Section 2, a WVRA plaintiff can state a redressable
injury under a broader range of circumstances than a Section 2 plaintiff.”’]; Pico Neighborhood Assn.
v City of Santa Monica, 15 Cal 5th at 317, 534 P3d at 66, 312 Cal Rptr 3d at 332 [“It would make
little sense to require CVRA plaintiffs to show that the protected class could constitute a majority
of a hypothetical district, given that the CVRA is not limited to ability-to-elect claims nor are its
remedies limited to district elections.”]; Sanchez v City of Modesto, 145 Cal App 4th at 670, 51 Cal
Rptr 3d at 829).

Further, while the text of the NYVRA is unlike the FVRA in that it does not require
the plaintiff in every vote dilution case to show that “under the ‘totality of the circumstances,’. . . the
political process is not ‘equally open’ to minority voters” (4/len v Milligan, 599 US at 18, quoting
Thornburg v Gingles, 478 US at 45-46; see 52 USC § 10301), in order to obtain a remedy under the
NYVRA, aplaintiff still must show that “vote dilution” has occurred (Election Law § 17-206[2][a]),
and that there is an alternative practice that would allow the minority group to “have equitable access

to fully participate in the electoral process” (id. § 17-206[5][a]; see Pico Neighborhood Assn. v City
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of Santa Monica, 15 Cal 5th at 314-315, 534 P3d at 64-65, 312 Cal Rptr 3d at 330-331). Thus, the
NYVRA does not significantly differ from the FVRA in this respect.

Finally, even if it were unconstitutional to apply the NY VRA in situations where the
Gingles test has not been satisfied, the NYVRA could still be constitutionally applied in situations
where the Gingles test has been satisfied. All parties agree that the FVRA as interpreted by Gingles
is constitutional (see Allen v Milligan, 599 US at 41). Here, the plaintiffs contend that the evidence
they submitted in opposition to the defendants’ motion demonstrates that each element of the
Gingles test has been satisfied.

Accordingly, the defendants failed to establish as a matter of law that compliance with
the vote dilution provisions of the NY VR A would force them to violate the Equal Protection Clause.

VIIL. The Provisions of the NYVRA Other Than the Vote Dilution Provisions

Although the parties in this case only made arguments regarding the vote dilution
provisions of the NYVRA, the Supreme Court’s order directed that the NYVRA was “stricken in
its entirety from further enforcement and application to these Defendants and to any other political
subdivision in the State of New York.” As noted above, the NY VRA contains other provisions, not
atissue in this action, mandating preclearance of certain changes in voting laws and prohibiting voter
suppression, intimidation, deception, and obstruction (see Election Law §§ 17-206[1]; 17-210; 17-
212). The NYVRA also contains a severability clause stating that “[1]f any provision of this title or
its application to any person, political subdivision, or circumstance is held invalid, the invalidity
shall not affect other provisions or applications of this title which can be given effect without the
invalid provision or application” (id. § 17-222; see Town of Islip v Caviglia, 141 AD2d 148, 167-
168). As the defendants do not dispute, even if the vote dilution provisions of the NYVRA did
violate the Equal Protection Clause, the Supreme Court had no authority to invalidate the remaining
portions of the NYVRA (see T.D. New York State Off. of Mental Health, 91 NY2d 860, 862; Matter
of Hearst Corp. v Clyne, 50 NY2d 707, 713). The Supreme Court also had no authority to bind
entities that are not parties to this action or to bind courts in other judicial districts deciding actions
brought pursuant to the NYVRA (see D Alessandro v Carro, 123 AD3d 1, 6; Riverside Capital
Advisors, Inc. v First Secured Capital Corp., 28 AD3d 457, 460).

VIIL The Defendants’ Alternative Ground for Summary Judgment

In the Supreme Court, the defendants alternatively argued that they were entitled to

summary judgment on the ground that the Town’s at-large voting system complied with the
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NYVRA. However, on appeal, the defendants do not mention this argument or advance it an
alternative ground for affirmance (cf. Parochial Bus Sys. v Board of Educ. of City of N.Y., 60 NY2d
539, 545-546; Olden Group, LLC v 2890 Review Equity, LLC, 209 AD3d 748, 750).
IX. Conclusion

Accordingly, the order is reversed, on the law, and the defendants’ motion for
summary judgment dismissing the complaint is denied.
CHAMBERS, TAYLOR and GOLIA, JJ., concur.

ORDERED that the order is reversed, on the law, with one bill of costs payable by
the defendants to the plaintiffs, and the defendants’ motion for summary judgment dismissing the

complaint is denied.
ENTER:->
[ Aawsa LK L._

Darrell M. Joseph
Clerk of the Court
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